IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

LUKOUXS BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
NO. 22-1188

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WRIGHT COUNTY
HONORABLE GREGG R. ROSENBLADT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

MELINDA J. NYE
Assistant Appellate Defender
mnye@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Because the preponderance of the evidence established Brown was not competent and cannot be restored to competency in a reasonable amount of time, the district court erred in finding Brown was competent and reinstating proceedings against him.

Authorities

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 862 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Johnson, 784 N.W.2d 192, 194 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Veal, 930 N.W.2d 319, 327 (Iowa 2019)

Cooper v. Oklahoma, 517 U.S. 348, 354 (1996)

Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 453 (1992)

State v. Lyman, 776 N.W.2d 865, 871 (Iowa 2010), overruled on other grounds by Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699, 708, n.3 (Iowa 2016)

Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402 (1960)

State v. Einfeldt, 914 N.W.2d 773, 778–79 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Code § 812.3 (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.8(3) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.8(6) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.8(8) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.9(3) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.9(4) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.8(5) (2022)

Iowa Code § 814.3 (2022)

II. Because it is not authorized by Chapter 812, the district court erred by allowing the State to obtain a second opinion of Brown’s competency or potential for restoration at this stage of the proceedings.

Authorities

State v. Brothorn, 832 N.W.2d 187, 191 (Iowa 2013)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 862 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Childs, 898 N.W.2d 177, 181 (Iowa 2017)

Iowa Code § 812.3 (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.3(2) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.5(2) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.6(2)(a) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.7 (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.4 (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.6 (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.8 (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.9 (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.8(4) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.9(4) (2022)

III. The district court erred by not holding a substantive hearing within 14 days of the filing of the report that Brown could not be restored to competency as required by Iowa Code § 812.8(4), violating both his statutory rights and his due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment.

Authorities

Iowa Code § 812.8(4) (2022)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 862 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Childs, 898 N.W.2d 177, 181 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Veal, 930 N.W.2d 319, 327 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 812.8(3) (2022)

State v. Einfeldt, 914 N.W.2d 773, 779 (Iowa 2018)

Jackson v. Indiana, 406 U.S. 715, 738 (1972)

Iowa Code § 812.8(5) (2022)

Iowa Code § 812.8(8) (2022)

Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 321 (1982)

State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226, 238 (Iowa 2002)

Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 356 (1997)

Oregon Advoc. Ctr. v. Mink, 322 F.3d 1101, 1121 (9th Cir. 2003)

State v. Hand, 429 P.3d 502, 505 (Wash. 2018)

Stiavetti v. Clendenin, 280 Cal. Rptr. 3d 165, 170
(Cal. Ct. App. 2021)

Iowa Code § 812.9 (2022)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve substantial issues of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Lukouxs Brown was found incompetent to stand trial and was committed for restoration to the Department of Corrections pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 812. After eight months, his treating psychiatrists informed the court Brown was unable to be restored. This case asks the court to resolve questions regarding whether the district court erred in postponing the hearing on the matter well beyond the statutory limit of fourteen days to allow the State to obtain a separate evaluation of Brown's competency and whether the court erred in relying on the State's evaluation over the opinion of the doctors who had been treating Brown throughout his commitment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Lukouxs Brown sought, and the Iowa Supreme Court granted, interlocutory appeal challenging the district court's ruling that Brown had been restored to competency, the district court's decision to allow the State to seek a second opinion on the question of Brown's competency, and the district court's continuation of the evidentiary portion of the restoration hearing for more than 81 days beyond the deadline provided in Iowa Code § 812.8(4) (2022).

Course of Proceedings: The State charged Lukouxs Brown with first degree murder by complaint on February 16, 2021. (Complaint, Dkt. 1) (App. pp. 5-6). Counsel was appointed at the initial appearance on February 17, 2021. (Appt of Counsel, Dkt. 4) (App. pp. 7-8). Within a week, counsel requested a competency hearing, alleging Brown showed "signs of serious mental disorder" including "abnormal thought process[es], hearing voices, and responding to outside stimuli that didn't exist." (Motion for Comp. Hearing, Dkt. 9)

(App. pp. 11-12). Counsel also noted that Brown had disclosed a previous inpatient hospitalization for schizophrenia. (Motion for Comp. Hearing, Dkt. 9) (App. pp. 11-12).

A trial information was filed the next day and arraignment was set for March 17, 2021. (Trial Information, Dkt. 10; Order for Arraignment, Dkt. 12) (App. pp. 13-16). The State then agreed that a competency hearing was warranted. (State's Response, Dkt. 14) (App. pp. 17-18). The court set a preliminary competency hearing for March 3, 2021. (Order Setting Hearing, Dkt. 15) (App. pp. 19-20).

At the hearing, the State stipulated probable cause existed to believe Brown suffered "from a mental disorder which prevents him from appreciating the charge, understanding the proceedings, and assisting effectively in his defense." Specifically, the State agreed that the court should suspend proceedings and order an evaluation and that Brown "will be evaluated by whoever is the doctor or psychologist at Oakdale."

(3/3/21 Hearing Tr. 3:8 – 21) (State’s Response, Dkt. 14) (App. pp. 17-18).

The court suspended the proceedings and ordered Brown be evaluated for competency pursuant to Iowa Code section 812.3 (2021) at the Forensic Psychiatric Hospital at the Iowa Medical and Classification Center in Coralville, Iowa. (Order for Evaluation, Dkt. 18) (App. pp. 21-23). On March 22, 2021, Dr. Arnold Andersen, Staff Psychiatrist at the Forensic Psychiatric Hospital, filed an evaluation report. He had interviewed Brown via teleconferencing at the Wright County Jail and concluded Brown was not competent to stand trial at that time but was a candidate for restoration treatment. (Competency Evaluation, p. 1 & 6, Dkt. 19) (Conf. App. pp. 9, 14). The court set another hearing. After the hearing, the court ordered that because Brown was not competent to stand trial, he would be committed to the custody of the Department of Corrections at the Iowa Medical and Classification Center for treatment designed to restore him to competency, pursuant to

Iowa Code sections 812.5(2) and 812.6(2)(a). (Order for Restoration of Competency, Dkt. 24) (App. pp. 24-26).

Brown was transported to IMCC for treatment on May 17, 2021. (Inmate Transfer, Dkt. 25) (App. p. 27). Reports on his treatment and progress were filed regularly thereafter. Dr. Gary Keller, Brown's treating psychiatrist, filed a 30-day report advising the court that while Brown had been at IMCC for a month, they had been unable to start treatment because of Brown's acute paranoia and aggression. He opined Brown's current diagnoses were schizophrenia and amphetamine use disorder. (30-day Report, Dkt. 26) (Conf. App. p. 15).

In August, Dr. Keller filed a 60-day progress report indicating the same diagnoses and reporting that they had begun treatment with limited progress and were starting work on restoration. He noted Brown was still having breakthrough paranoia and "odd behaviors" but that "[t]hankfully" he had not tried to assault anyone in more than thirty days. (60-day Report, Dkt. 27) (Conf. App. p. 16). An evaluation report from

Dr. Andersen was filed shortly after, indicating that after assessing Brown on August 12, Dr. Andersen did not find Brown was yet competent to stand trial but that there was “a modest possibility that in a reasonable amount of time, with additional treatment modification, he may become competent to stand trial.” Dr. Andersen noted that Brown did not appreciate the charges against him, could not assist his attorneys, did not understand the key personnel in a court trial, would not be able to follow the proceedings and would be unlikely to act appropriately in court. (Evaluation Report at 7-9, Dkt. 28) (Conf. App. pp. 23-25). The court approved these reports, ordering that proceedings against Brown remain suspended and that he continue restoration treatment at IMCC. (Order, Dkt. 29) (App. pp. 28-29).

On September 2021, Dr. Andersen filed another evaluation report, describing that Brown was still suffering from hallucinations and told Dr. Anderson that “he experiences brief periods when his mind appears to be blank.” (Evaluation

Report, at 4, Dkt. 30) (Conf. App. p. 29). As for efforts at restoration, Dr. Andersen said Brown knew that murder was killing someone but thought that first-degree murder was “a lot lower charge than another.” He did not know if the charge was serious or not. His understanding of the role of the key participants in a trial was “vague.” (Evaluation Report at 5-6, Dkt. 30) (Conf. App. pp. 30-31). Dr. Andersen concluded that because Brown did not appreciate the charge he faced, he could not effectively assist his defense attorney, did not have a rational or factual understanding of the key personnel in a court during a trial, and would not be able to follow the proceedings in a meaningful manner, Brown was not competent to stand trial, but was still a candidate for restoration. “There is a small possibility that in a reasonable amount of time, with adjustments in his medication, he may yet become competent to stand trial.” (Evaluation Report at 7, Dkt. 30) (Conf. App. p. 32). The court approved the report and treatment at IMCC continued. (Order, Dkt. 31) (App. pp. 30-31).

Dr. Keller filed a 60-day report in October, indicating Brown had “stalled a bit in what progress we had seen and had some setbacks, including an assault on a peer.” The staff had adjusted his care regime to address the issue. (60-day Report, Dkt. 32) (Conf. App. p. 33). He recommended that Brown continue treatment with them. (60-day Report, Dkt. 32) (Conf. App. p. 33). The court approved the report; it ordered Brown remain at IMCC and proceedings remain suspended. (Order, Dkt. 33) (App. pp. 32-33).

In November, Dr. Andersen filed another evaluation report, disclosing that Brown had substantially improved but was still not competent to stand trial. (Evaluation Report at 6, Dkt. 34) (Conf. App. p. 39). He noted Brown did not fully appreciate the charge against him but would be able to effectively assist his attorneys. Although he still did not have a rational or factual understanding of the key personnel in a court trial, he did have a partial understanding of a plea bargain. Given this improvement, Dr. Andersen now opined there was a

“moderately good possibility that with continued advancement in his medication treatments and additional teaching, he may become competent to stand trial in a reasonable amount of time.” (Evaluation Report at 6, Dkt. 34) (Conf. App. p. 39). The court again approved the report and ordered Brown continue to undergo restoration treatment. (Order, Dkt. 35) (App. pp. 34-35).

In December, Dr. Keller filed a 60-day report, advising the court that “after a series of adjustments to his medications and treatment plan,” they had made some progress with Brown. Despite the improvement in Brown’s presentation and symptoms, he feared they had “stalled” due to Brown’s impaired mental status and inability to process. However, he assured the court they were continuing to evaluate the situation and recommended Brown continue treatment. (60-day Report, Dkt. 36) (Conf. App. p. 41). The court approved the report and ordered Brown to continue treatment at IMCC. (Order, Dkt. 37) (App. pp. 36-37).

An evaluation report from Dr. Andersen filed soon after concluded Brown was still a candidate for restoration. (Evaluation Report at 4, Dkt. 39) (Conf. App. p. 45). He noted that at that point Brown was free from hallucinations and delusions, the “typical positive symptoms” of schizophrenia. However, he still suffered from the “enigmatic experience of blankness in his mind that occurs several times an hour, for a limited period of time.” He believed Brown understood the charge he faced “in its essentials,” was moderately able to assist in his defense, and had a generally rational and factual understanding of the key personnel in a court trial. Accordingly, he concluded “it is possible but far from certain that he may within a reasonable amount of time become competent to stand trial.” (Evaluation Report at 3-4, Dkt. 39) (Conf. App. pp. 44-45).

At the same time, a neuropsychological evaluation conducted by Dr. John Bayless was filed. This evaluation assessed Brown’s “underlying cognitive abilities as they related

to competence to stand trial.” (Neuropsychological Eval. at 1, Dkt. 38) (Conf. App. p. 47). This report concluded Brown suffered “major neurocognitive disorder due to multiple causes . . . with behavioral disturbance.” (Neuropsychological Eval. at 4, Dkt. 38) (Conf. App. p. 50). He concluded Brown’s “cognitive deficits render him mentally incapable of following the progress of a trial and unable to meaningfully assist his attorney in his defense.” (Neuropsychological Eval. at 5, Dkt. 38) (Conf. App. p. 51).

On February 1, 2022, Dr. Andersen filed an evaluation report opining Brown was not currently competent to stand trial and that he was no longer considered a candidate for restoration. (Evaluation Report at 1, Dkt. 40) (Conf. App. p. 53). Dr. Andersen explained that Brown denied any hallucinations. He had some insight into why he was taking medication but also asserted that he didn’t have schizophrenia and that “my brain is telling me I don’t need [my medications] anymore.” (Evaluation Report at 4-5, Dkt. 40) (Conf. App. pp.

56-57). Dr. Andersen noted that several times during the interview, Brown appeared bewildered and Brown acknowledged he still experienced periods of what he called a “blank mind.” (Evaluation Report at 4-5, Dkt. 40) (Conf. App. pp. 56-57). Brown also told Dr. Andersen that he was thinking about getting a transfer to Oregon. (Evaluation Report at 5, Dkt. 40) (Conf. App. p. 57).

Brown knew what murder was but thought first-degree murder was the “most minor” form of murder. He didn’t know what options a person had when asked how to plead. He understood that the prosecutor and defense attorney “make opposing statements” but had no understanding of the concept that a person is innocent until proven guilty. He explained that the role of his attorney would be “to keep on good spools”¹ or to “keep me in good heights.” He believed the prosecutor was working against him but thought it would okay to meet with the prosecutor in private because “it’s usually better to have a

¹ When asked what “spools” referred to, Brown told Dr. Andersen that he didn’t know—it was just a word he made up.

private meeting and unpack it.” He understood the judge was neutral but thought the judge decided the sentence for guilty people. (Evaluation Report at 6-7, Dkt. 40) (Conf. App. pp. 58-59). Dr. Andersen’s conclusion that Brown could not be restored was based on the fact that while Brown had significantly improved his positive symptoms of schizophrenia, his negative symptoms, such as “intermittent blank mind, flat affect, and inability to find any words or phrases to answer many questions,” were unresolved. He concluded Brown “has shown no capacity for new learning,” despite the repeated attempts at educating him on key aspects of the court system. Dr. Andersen indicated there were “no further psychopharmacological treatments” that could be offered to Brown. (Evaluation Report at 7, Dkt. 40) (Conf. App. p. 59). Brown was transferred from IMCC to the Wright County Jail on February 2, 2022. (Inmate Transport, Dkt. 41) (App. p. 38).

Brown moved for a hearing pursuant to Iowa Code section 812.8(4) within fourteen days of the filing of Dr. Andersen’s

report finding Brown could not be restored to competency. (Motion for Hearing, Dkt. 42) (App. pp. 39-40). The same day the State filed a request for additional time to find its own expert to evaluate Brown to assess his competency to stand trial. (Motion, Dkt. 43) (App. pp. 41-42). Brown resisted. (Resistance, Dkt. 44) (App. pp. 43-45). Hearing was set for February 11, 2022. (Order Setting Hearing, Dkt. 45) (App. pp. 46-47).

At the hearing, the parties disputed the court's authority to allow the State to obtain a second opinion on Brown's competency and to grant the State time to find another expert outside the 14-day limit provided in Iowa Code section 814.8(4). (2/11/22 Hearing Tr. 3:16 – 21:4). The court agreed with the State and granted the State's request to find another expert and continued the proceedings for a "brief period of time" without setting a deadline. (2/11/22 Hearing Tr. 21:8 – 23:8) (Order, Dkt. 46) (App. pp. 48-49).

A month later, Brown filed a motion to dismiss. Brown noted in his filing that had been 43 days since Dr. Andersen's report was filed and 32 days since the initial "hearing" was held in which the court gave the State additional time to find an expert. (Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 48) (App. pp. 50-51). Brown argued Iowa Code section 812.8(4) required a hearing within fourteen days and moved to dismiss the prosecution with prejudice due to the failure to hold a meaningful hearing within the prescribed timeframe. (Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 48) (App. pp. 50-51). The State resisted and informed the court that it had received a report from its expert. (Resistance, Dkt. 49) (App. pp. 52-53). The court denied the motion to dismiss and ordered a competency hearing to be scheduled. (Order, Dkt. 50) (App. pp. 54-55). The competency hearing was set for May 6, 2022. (Hearing Notice, Dkt. 52) (App. p. 56).

At the hearing, the State presented the testimony and report of Dr. Rosanna Jones-Thurman. (5/6/22 Hearing Tr. 7:22 – 55:21) (State's Ex. 1, Dkt. 62) (Conf. App. pp. 62-78).

Dr. Jones-Thurman testified that, after interviewing Brown for roughly 90 minutes on February 19, 2022, and reviewing the records provided by the State, she concluded Brown was competent to stand trial. (5/6/22 Hearing 13:8-15:6). During her interview with Brown, he denied having any hallucinations or that he had any problems with attention, concentration or focus. He told her that he thought he used to hear things, but “I don’t remember.” He told her that he took his medications and sometimes had memory problems. He was able to tell her that he was charged with first-degree murder and was at the Wright County Jail. He understood that his attorney was there to help him “against the order of the court.” He thought the judge was supposed to be neutral and “blends the story and puts it back together, and comes up with the best solution and motion of the court.” However, he didn’t remember what the jury did and “thought they might be like court jesters.” (State’s Ex. 1 at 4-5, Dkt. 62) (Conf. App. pp. 65-66).

Brown presented testimony from Drs. Andersen and Bayless to support their conclusions that Brown was not competent and could not be restored. (5/6/22 Hearing Tr. 56:20 – 88:23; 89:8 – 126:4). Brown's sister also testified, recounting conversations she had with Brown since he'd been transferred back to jail. She testified she'd noticed a decline in his cognitive function and he had been talking to her about his expectation he would soon be released and his plan to visit family on the west coast. She felt her conversation with him indicated he didn't understand the proceedings against him. She also testified she believed he was experiencing delusions or hallucinations because he told her he was communicating with the CIA through his mind. (5/6/22 Hearing Tr. 126:21 – 130:3). Brown submitted an audio recording of a call on April 1, 2022, from Brown to his sister, supporting her testimony. (Def. Ex. D).

The court concluded the preponderance of the evidence indicated Brown had been restored to competency. (Order

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