IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 22-1188
Wright County No. FECR036219

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

LUKOUXS BROWN,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WRIGHT COUNTY
THE HONORABLE GREGG R. ROSENBLADT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

BRENNA BIRD
Attorney General of Iowa

KYLE HANSON
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-8894 (fax)
kyle.hanson@ag.iowa.gov

SCOTT BROWN
Assistant Attorney General

ERIC SIMONSON
Wright County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Substantial Evidence Supported the District Court’s Finding that Brown Had Regained His Competency to Stand Trial.**

Preservation of Error

Brown preserved error by resisting at the restoration hearing and receiving an adverse ruling in the district court. *See generally* Ruling (6/17/2022), Dkt. 68; App. 57–75.

Standard of Review

For the reasons argued below in section I(A), the Court should apply a correction-of-errors, substantial-evidence review of the district court’s finding of competency.

Merits

Brown lost the battle of the experts, so this Court should affirm the order finding him competent to stand trial. First, the Court should abandon the ill-conceived de novo standard of review, which does not afford proper deference to the district court’s findings of credibility. Second, under the correct standard of review, substantial evidence supports the district court’s order assigning credibility to the State’s expert. Third, even under a de novo review, the evidence proved Brown was competent to appreciate the charge, understand the proceedings, and assist in his defense.

A. The Court should return to reviewing competency rulings for substantial evidence, not de novo.

The first step in this case is correcting the standard of review. Until 2010, this Court applied a split standard of review. For claims that the district court failed to adequately address competency, review was de novo. *State v. Lyman*, 776 N.W.2d 865, 871 (Iowa 2010) (citing *State v. Lyon*, 293 N.W.2d 8, 9, 12–13 (Iowa 1980)). But when the district court had ruled on the defendant’s competency, “review was at law for substantial evidence.” *Id.* at 871–73 (citing *State v. Jackson*, 305 N.W.2d 420 (Iowa 1981); *State v. Aswegan*, 331 N.W.2d 93 (Iowa 1983); *State v. Rieflin*, 558 N.W.2d 149 (Iowa 1996)). *Lyman* overruled *Jackson*, *Aswegan*, and *Rieflin*, imposing a de novo review on all competency questions. *Id.* at 873. That overruling was misguided, makes Iowa an outlier, and wrongly appropriates the district court’s duty to assess questions of credibility. As a result, this Court should overrule *Lyman* and return to a substantial-evidence review.

Lyman’s reasoning does not hold up to scrutiny. Its justification for overruling decades of caselaw was that competency “implicates a constitutional right,” and de novo review applies “when an appeal involves a defendant’s constitutional rights.” *Id.* at 873. But this logic

would swallow up every type of challenge in criminal cases. For instance, a sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge “implicates” the constitutional right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Or a jury-instruction challenge “implicates” the constitutional right to a jury trial on all essential elements. But the Court has no problem reviewing those issues for correction of errors at law. *State v. Crawford*, 972 N.W.2d 189, 202 (Iowa 2022); *State v. Benson*, 919 N.W.2d 237, 241 (Iowa 2018). Competency is no different. Although trying an incompetent defendant offends due process, reviewing the district court’s application of Iowa’s competency statute calls for a substantial-evidence standard. *Jackson*, *Aswegan*, and *Rieflin* had it right.

Lyman’s de novo standard makes Iowa an outlier. Federal courts recognize that “[d]etermining whether a defendant is competent to stand trial is committed to the discretion of the district court.” *United States v. Whittington*, 586 F.3d 613, 617 (8th Cir. 2009) (quotations omitted). Thus, “[t]he competency determination is a factual finding we affirm unless clearly arbitrary or unwarranted, or clearly erroneous.” *Id.* Similarly, Iowa’s sister states apply standards of review that defer to the district court’s findings. *See*

State v. O’Neill, 945 N.W.2d 71, 76–77, 81–82 (Minn. Ct. App. 2020) (concluding the competency standard “requires us to accept the district court’s factual findings after a hearing, unless they are clearly erroneous” and collecting cases proving “most state jurisdictions also apply clear-error review or its functional equivalent to a district court’s competency finding”); *State v. Jenkins*, 931 N.W.2d 851, 864 (Neb. 2019) (“The trial court’s determination of competency will not be disturbed unless there is insufficient evidence to support the finding.”); *State v. Tilden*, 988 S.W.2d 568, 576 (Mo. Ct. App. 1999) (“[W]here the issue of mental competency has been raised by motion or by the trial court, and has been decided, the standard of review is that the trial court’s determination of competency must stand unless unsupported by substantial evidence, without appellate weighing of the evidence . . .”); *People v. Taylor*, 949 N.E.2d 124, 140 (Ill. App. Ct. 2011) (“A trial court’s determination that a defendant is fit to stand trial will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.”); *State v. Byrge*, 614 N.W.2d 477, 491 (Wis. 2000) (“We . . . adhere to the clearly erroneous standard for reviewing circuit court determinations in competency proceedings.”). *Lyman* ignores this consensus that the

district court's competency determination deserves substantial deference.

The correct standard of review grants deference to the district court's superior opportunity to assess credibility. Questions of competency, like any mental-health challenge, often involve dueling experts. Such cases turn on deciding which expert is more credible. And the district court that observes the dueling testimony is in the best position to decide issues of credibility. *See, e.g., Byrge*, 614 N.W.2d at 491 (“Because a competency determination depends on the [trial] court’s ability to appraise witness credibility and demeanor, ‘there are compelling and familiar justifications for leaving the process of applying law to fact to the trial court.’” (quoting *Miller v. Fenton*, 474 U.S. 104, 114 (1985))).

Lyman's superficial reasoning should be overruled. As our neighbor to the north has summarized, “Except for Iowa, . . . we have found no jurisdiction applying a de novo, fact-reweighing approach on appellate review.” *O'Neill*, 945 N.W.2d at 82 (citing *Lyman*, 776 N.W.2d at 871). Today the Court should jettison *Lyman*'s aberrant de novo standard and return to the established rule that appellate review

“is limited to whether there is support in the record for the competency finding.” *Rieflin*, 558 N.W.2d at 152.

B. Expert testimony supported the district court’s competency ruling.

Under the correct standard of review, this Court should decline Brown’s request to reopen the battle of the experts. The district court heard competing expert testimony, and it found the State’s expert more credible. “When a case evolves into a battle of experts, we, as the reviewing court, readily defer to the district court’s judgment as it is in a better position to weigh the credibility of the witnesses.” *State v. Jacobs*, 607 N.W.2d 679, 685 (Iowa 2000) (citation omitted). Dr. Jones-Thurman’s expert testimony supported the district court’s finding of competency, so this Court should affirm.

Brown challenges the district court’s finding that his competency had been restored. Restoration is accomplished when “the defendant has acquired the ability to appreciate the charge, understand the proceedings, and effectively assist in the defendant’s defense.” Iowa Code § 812.8(1) (2023); *see also Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402, 402 (1960) (“[T]he ‘test must be whether he has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding—and whether he has a rational as

well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him.”). The district court must find “by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant’s competency has been restored.” Iowa Code § 812.8(5).¹

On this question, the State presented expert testimony from Dr. Rosanna Jones-Thurman. She holds bachelor’s and master’s degrees in psychology as well as a Ph.D. in psychology. Hrg. Tr. (5/6/2022)² 9:13–20. She is licensed to practice psychology in Iowa and Nebraska. Tr. 9:21–10:3. Her practice includes some treatment, but she spends most of her time examining children and adults. Tr. 8:11–9:12. She has been providing evaluations in Iowa, including competency evaluations, since 1995. Tr. 10:21–11:7. She works for the prosecution

¹ Confoundingly, the statute also requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence for Brown’s position “that there is no substantial probability the defendant’s competency will be restored in a reasonable amount of time.” Iowa Code § 812.8(8). This necessity for proof by a preponderance of the evidence in either direction leaves questions about who bears the burden of proof or what the court should do if the evidence is in equipoise. *See Lyman*, 776 N.W.2d at 874 (“We presume a defendant is competent to stand trial. The defendant has the burden of proving his or her incompetency to stand trial by a preponderance of the evidence. If the evidence is in equipoise, the presumption of competency prevails. (citing *State v. Pedersen*, 309 N.W.2d 490, 496 (Iowa 1981)); *State v. Coley*, 326 P.3d 702, 706–09 (Wash. 2014) (applying the presumption of competency and concluding the defendant retains the burden to prove incompetency at the restoration hearing).

² Unless otherwise specified, all transcript citations in this brief refer to the hearing on May 6, 2022.

and defense alike. Tr. 11:8–12:7. In Brown’s case, the State hired Dr. Jones-Thurman to give an opinion on competency, reimbursing her a reasonable rate for her services. Tr. 12:8–16, 42:20–43:13.

Dr. Jones-Thurman reviewed a variety of records before reaching a decision on Brown’s competency. Tr. 12:17–13:7. She looked at investigative reports, including Brown’s interview when he admitted planning the killing. State’s Ex. 1 at 5–7, Dkt. 62 (Jones-Thurman report); Conf. App. 66–68. She reviewed the monthly progress reports from Drs. Andersen, Keller, and Bayless at IMCC. *Id.* at 7–11; Conf. App. 68–72. And she had police records from Brown’s home state of Oregon. *Id.* at 11–13; Conf. App. 72–74.

Next, Dr. Jones-Thurman personally examined Brown in jail. On February 19, 2022, she met with him face-to-face for about 90 minutes. Tr. 13:8–22. Brown told Dr. Jones-Thurman about his family and educational history, his employment, his medical and addiction issues, and his mental health history. Tr. 15:8–16:4, State’s Ex. 1 at 1–5, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 62–66. Brown was able to answer her questions coherently. Tr. 16:5–8.

Dr. Jones-Thurman proceeded with a mental status exam. Tr. 16:8–10. Brown scored in the borderline range on the verbal portion

of the Welscher Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS). Tr. 19:3–20:7.

Although Brown “appeared to have below average intellectual ability,” his memory for recent and remote events was “grossly intact,” and he “was able to demonstrate ability to do abstract reasoning.” State’s Ex. 1 at 13–14, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 74–75. Brown reported that “things have improved ‘absolutely’” and that his medications were “helping a lot.” *Id.* at 4; Conf. App. 65. Nothing “gave [Dr. Jones-Thurman] any pause or concern in moving forward with [her] evaluation.” Tr. 21:8–22:13.

After the examination, Dr. Jones-Thurman determined Brown was competent. She expressed a clear professional opinion that “Mr. Brown is competent to stand trial.” State’s Ex. 1 at 14, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 75. She found he possessed adequate intellectual capacity “to understand and help his attorney and aid in his defense.” *Id.* at 16; Conf. App. 77. Additionally, “he is able to understand the general principles with the court and the proceedings.” *Id.* And he was “able to pay attention, focus, and understand relevant information at trial.” *Id.* Dr. Jones-Thurman’s report and testimony supported her conclusions on these three points of the competency standard.

First, the examination showed Brown possessed a rational appreciation of the charge. He knew he was charged with first-degree murder, he named the person he was accused of killing, and he explained he did not like the victim. Tr. 23:7–16, 25:5–26:3, State’s Ex. 1 at 14–15, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 75–76. He understood that his sentence would depend on whether he was found guilty and on what degree of homicide. Tr. 27:8–10. He knew that Iowa does not have the death penalty but that his potential sentence would be “quite long.” Tr. 27:16–28:9. Although Brown did not use precise legal terminology such as “premeditation,” he expressed understanding of the concept by explaining how he formed a plan to kill. Tr. 33:16–34:16. He also knew that he preferred to go to jail rather than be locked in a mental health facility. Tr. 34:23–35:19. These facts supported Dr. Jones-Thurman’s conclusion that Brown was “able to appreciate his charges, what he has done, and the potential outcomes and consequences.” State’s Ex. 1 at 15, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 76.

Second, the examination showed Brown had a rational understanding of the proceedings. He had familiarity with the criminal justice system from his history of criminal charges in Oregon. Tr. 26:4–19. He understood the “adversarial nature of the

legal process, with his attorney working to help him and the prosecutor as the opponent. State's Ex. 1 at 16, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 77. "He has a general understanding of the judge, jury, [and] trial." *Id.* at 15; Conf. App. 76; *see also* Tr. 29:24–30:8. These facts supported Dr. Jones-Thurman's conclusion that Brown "is able to understand the general principles with the court and the proceedings." State's Ex. 1 at 16, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 77.

Third, the examination showed Brown could effectively assist in his defense. Although he scored low on the intelligence test, "He actually has better conversational speech and comprehension of what is going on than what is represented by the IQ test." *Id.* at 15; Conf. App. 76; Tr. 29:2–10. He understood who his attorney was, could articulate his medications and history, and could answer questions. Tr. 29:11–16. He would be able to understand and help his attorney, such as by "disclos[ing] facts pertinent to the proceedings to his attorney." State's Ex. 1 at 15, 16; Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 76, 77; *see also* Tr. 35:20–36:7. And he was "able to manifest appropriate courtroom behavior." State's Ex. 1 at 16, Dkt. 62; Conf. App. 77. These facts supported Dr. Jones-Thurman's conclusion that Brown could "get through a trial and aid his legal team." *Id.* at 17; Conf. App. 78.

The district court, after hearing competing evidence, credited Dr. Jones-Thurman’s professional determination. It noted, “The Court was impressed with the methodology used by Dr. Jones-Thurman in conducting her evaluation of the defendant and gives credibility to her findings and conclusions.” Ruling at 4, Dkt. 68; App. 60. It accepted her “unwavering” opinion on Brown’s restoration to competency. *Id.* The court weighed, at length, testimony from IMCC Drs. Andersen and Bayless. *Id.* at 4–15; App. 60–71. But it returned to Dr. Jones-Thurman’s analysis:

In reviewing all the information contained in the court file, the Court finds that the reported conclusions by Dr. Rosanna Jones-Thurman are clear, concise, well-founded, and on point, and constitute very clear evidence that the defendant is competent to stand trial under the *Dusky* standard and requirements of Iowa Code § 812.

Id. at 16; App. 72. The court concurred with her analysis (*id.* at 17; App. 73), showing it found her determination more credible than the competing expert opinions.

Brown’s appellate argument misplaces reliance on competing opinions from Drs. Andersen and Bayless and from his own sister. *See generally* Def. Br. at 34–46. In a substantial-evidence review, the appellate court cannot supplant the district court’s role of assessing

credibility. “The credibility of witnesses and the weight to be given their testimony is a function of the trier of fact.” *State v. Wheeler*, 403 N.W.2d 58, 61 (Iowa Ct. App. 1987), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Reeves*, 636 N.W.2d 22 (Iowa 2001). Even when a defendant like Brown presents competing evidence, the district court need not accept it. *See id.* (“[Expert testimony] may be accepted in whole, in part, or not at all.”); *see also Jacobs*, 607 N.W.2d at 685 (“The trial court as trier of fact is not obligated to accept opinion evidence, even from experts, as conclusive.”).

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